

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia "Galileo Galilei"

Master Degree in Physics

Final Dissertation

Sharing nonlocality between sequential observers by

means of projective measurements

Thesis supervisor Prof. Luca Salasnich Thesis co-supervisors Prof. Marcus Huber Dr. Armin Tavakoli Candidate Anna Steffinlongo

Academic Year 2021/2022

Abstract

Weak measurements are considered fundamental for sharing the nonlocality of an entangled two-qubit state between several sequential observers. In this thesis work, we show that this is not necessarily true. Indeed it is possible to share the nonlocality using only standard projective measurements, without the need for any quantum ancilla. We will first show that two sequential observers can both violate the CHSH inequality when the initial state is a maximally entangled two-qubit one and all the observers are allowed to share classical randomness. Afterward, we will determine the optimal trade-off relation between the CHSH parameters in the same scenario. We also show that two sequential violations can be reached without the need of sharing classical randomness, but using only projective measurements and local randomness. Secondly, we will study what happens if the initial state is non-maximally entangled and we will show that not only it is always possible to have two sequential violations with a partially entangled state, but that in some cases these states make larger sequential violations. Lastly, we prove that it is also possible for three sequential observers to violate the CHSH inequality. These results show that standard, projective, measurements are a simple and useful resource for sharing quantum nonlocality between sequential observers.

Contents

1	Introduction			9
	1.1	Tools	and concepts for Quantum Information	10
		1.1.1	Qubits	10
		1.1.2	Composite systems and entanglement	12
		1.1.3	Bell theorem and CHSH inequality	13
		1.1.4	Weak measurements	14
		1.1.5	Quantum channels and Kraus operators	15
	1.2	Seque	ntial CHSH scenario	15
2	Doι	Double violation 1		
	2.1	Proof	of principle	20
	2.2	Optim	nal trade-off	22
		2.2.1	Strategy type (I) \ldots	23
		2.2.2	Strategy type (II)	25
		2.2.3	Strategy type (III)	26
		2.2.4	Mixing via shared randomness	28
	2.3	Only]	local randomness	33
3	Par	Partially entangled state		
	3.1	Outpe	erforming maximally entangled states	35
		3.1.1	Strategy type (I) \ldots	35
		3.1.2	Strategy type (II)	36
		3.1.3	Strategy type (III)	37
		3.1.4	Double violation	38
	3.2	Doubl	e violation with generic pure entangled states	40
4	Triple violation			43
	4.1	Example strategy		44
5	Conclusions			47

Preface

This thesis contains the main results obtained during my thesis internship at IQOQI and TU-Wien. The work has been carried out in the Huber group under the supervision of Prof. Marcus Huber and Dr. Armin Tavakoli. The results presented in this thesis has also been published in the article "Projective measurements are sufficient for recycling nonlocality" [1], recently accepted by Physical Review Letters.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Since the beginning of the 20th century Quantum Mechanics has changed the way we conceive the world revealing new interesting phenomena and leading to the research for new models and theories to describe them. Among the various new fields born thanks to the discovery of Quantum Mechanics we can acknowledge Quantum Information theory. Information theory is the field that studies how information can be quantified, stored, and processed. Its foundations can be traced back to 1948, when C. E. Shannon published "A mathematical theory of communication" [2] and has gained popularity ever since. The study of this field has deeply affected our lives allowing for the development of many tools we use daily. Quantum Information theory, on the other hand, proposes this study when the system considered is quantum mechanical. Indeed by considering a quantum system to carry information, researchers have introduced plenty of new protocols both for computing and for cryptography. While quantum computing is still at an early stage, quantum cryptography implementations are being achieved more and more often. Although there are still some technological limitations, such as the distance limit at which a quantum key can be efficiently broadcast with current technologies, the birth of several companies proposing quantum cryptography devices makes it reasonable that in the near future quantum cryptography will become more and more used.

In this thesis, we are going to study one of the most peculiar characteristics of quantum mechanics: non-locality. As we will see more in detail in the following sections, non-locality is indeed a useful resource to be used in quantum cryptography systems. When performing quantum cryptography protocols, it is important to consider the fact that the state and the devices used might be not reliable, i.e. they can be imperfect and behave differently from what the user wishes. To overcome this problem the idea of device-independent quantum cryptography has been born. In this scenario the user does not trust the used devices, seeing them as black boxes. This way the security proof of the quantum protocol will be independent of the device used. With this aim, in 1998 Mayers and Yao [3] proposed the concept of self-testing quantum apparatus. The idea is that the user does not assume the apparatus to be trusted in any way and that its properties are uniquely determined on the basis of their input-output statistics. A particularly useful test for self-testing the honesty of a device is the Bell test. To perform this kind of test, non-locality is

a fundamental resource.

In this scenario, we are going to study the possibility to share a non-local correlation between sequential observers sharing a two-qubit entangled state. In particular, we are going to propose a new way of performing this task in contrast with the standard method widely found in the literature. Indeed the standard procedure involves the use of sophisticated measurements, namely positive operator-valued measures (POVMs), whose implementation typically requires additional ancillary qubits. In our protocol instead, all the observers will be allowed to use only standard projective measurements which are much easier to implement. In this work we are first going to prove the validity of this protocol and study its limits in the case there are only three observers. Moreover, we are going to study what happens if the initial shared state is a general two-qubit pure state instead of a maximally entangled one. Finally, we are going to present an example showing the possibility to use it also when the observers are four. The importance of this work is firstly to point out that the common knowledge that POVMs are necessary to share non-locality between sequential observers is wrong. In addition to this conceptual statement, this thesis proposes a new easier way to perform this task.

In the following sections, we are going to introduce some useful mathematical tools used in quantum information as well as concepts like Bell inequalities and in particular the Clauser-Horne-ShimonyHolt (CHSH) inequality. Afterward, we are going to introduce the idea of sharing non-locality between sequential observers. Finally, in the following chapters, we are going to the main part of the thesis, in which we analyze and discuss what happens when the observers can only perform standard projective measurements.

1.1 Tools and concepts for Quantum Information

In this section, we are going to present some useful tools and concepts used when dealing with quantum information. In particular, we are introducing the qubit and the way to represent it, the idea of non-locality, Bell inequalities with a particular focus on the CHSH inequality, and finally quantum measurements.

This introductory section does not pretend to describe exhaustively all the topics presented, which lie outside the aim of this thesis work. We are indeed trying only to give an idea of the objects we are going to talk about and use.

1.1.1 Qubits

In classical information theory, the basic unit of information is the bit. It represents a logical state assuming one of two possible values, namely 0 and 1. Similarly, in quantum information theory the basic unit is the qubit (quantum bit). It represents the state of a system, such as a two-level system, belonging to the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} \cong \mathbb{C}^2$, having as basis vectors $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$. The peculiar characteristic of the qubit is that it is not bound to be only in the basis states, it can be a linear combination of them. In this case, we say that the qubit is in a superposition. The qubit state $|\psi\rangle$ can be thus generally written as:

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle = \alpha\left|0\right\rangle + \beta\left|1\right\rangle \tag{1.1}$$

where α and β are complex coefficients satisfying the normalization constraint $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$. Since quantum states are defined up to a global phase, it is possible to impose the condition $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and rewrite the state as

$$|\psi\rangle = \cos\frac{\theta}{2}|0\rangle + e^{i\phi}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\beta|1\rangle$$
(1.2)

where θ and ϕ are real numbers. We can interpret these angles as spherical coordinates and identify the point $\vec{a} = (\sin \theta \cos \phi, \sin \theta \sin \phi, \cos \theta)$ on the Bloch sphere. This is a unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^3 having the computational basis vectors $\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$ as the z-axis, as x-axis the vectors $\{|+\rangle = \frac{|0\rangle+|1\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |-\rangle = \frac{|0\rangle-|1\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}\}$ and $\{|R\rangle = \frac{|0\rangle+i|1\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |L\rangle = \frac{|0\rangle-i|1\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}\}$ for the y-axis. The vector \vec{a} is the Bloch vector associated with the state $|\psi\rangle$. In figure 1.1 we report a representation of the Bloch sphere.



Figure 1.1: Bloch sphere representation.

We are also going to represent qubits with the matrix representation. In this representation, we associate the computational basis vectors with

$$|0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \quad |1\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.3}$$

which are the eigenvectors of the Pauli matrix σ_z .

The states we have used so far are only pure states. To talk about more general states, namely mixed states, it is necessary to introduce the density matrix formalism. In this formalism, the state can be written as

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbb{1} + \vec{r} \cdot \vec{\sigma} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbb{1} + r_x \sigma_x + r_y \sigma_y + r_z \sigma_z \right) \tag{1.4}$$

where 1 is the identity matrix and σ_x , σ_y and σ_z are the Pauli matrices

$$\mathbb{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \sigma_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \sigma_y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \sigma_z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.5}$$

The real vector $\vec{r} = (r_x, r_y, r_z)$ is the Bloch vector of the state and it represents the state in the Bloch sphere. Vectors with $\|\vec{r}\| = 1$ represent pure states. Mixed states are represented by vectors with $\|\vec{r}\| < 1$, thus inside the sphere.

1.1.2 Composite systems and entanglement

To introduce the representation of the state of a composite quantum system we can start again by comparing it with its classical counterpart. In the classical case, when we consider a system composed of n basic systems we simply obtain a n-bit string of 0s and 1s. In the quantum case, the state of a composite system belongs to the Hilbert space obtained as the tensor product of the sub-system Hilbert spaces. Considering n qubits each in a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} \cong \mathbb{C}^2$, the state of the total system $|\Psi\rangle$ belongs to

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{TOT}} = \underbrace{\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}}_{n \text{ times}} = \bigotimes^{n} \mathcal{H} \cong \mathbb{C}^{2n}$$
(1.6)

Thus, the state of the composite system is represented by a 2*n*-component complex vector. If the total state can be written as the tensor product of the states of the sub-systems, the state is called *separable*. For example, if we consider a 2-qubit system, the total state $|\Psi\rangle = |\psi_1\rangle \otimes |\psi_2\rangle$, with $|\psi_1\rangle$ and $|\psi_2\rangle$ states of the two single qubits, is separable. When it is not possible to write the total state in this way, the state is not separable, it is *entangled*. For example, if we consider again a 2-qubit system, the state $\Psi = \frac{|00\rangle + |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$ is entangled.

Entanglement highlights the non-local nature of quantum theory. If for example we consider the 2-qubit entangled state $\Psi = \frac{|00\rangle + |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$ and we measure the value of the first qubit, the outcome will be either 0 or 1 and this will also determine the value of the second qubit.

This quantum theory result does not satisfy the principle of locality stating that an object is directly influenced only by what happens in its immediate surroundings. For this reason, Einstein, Podolski and Rosen published the 1935 paper "Can Quantum-Mechanical Description of Physical Reality Be Considered Complete?" [4] considering the theory of quantum mechanics theory incomplete due to this violation of the locality principle. Indeed, they argued that, since information can not travel faster than light, it is impossible that an action taken on a particle, such as measuring the first qubit of Ψ , could affect instantaneously another particle, such as the second qubit of Ψ . They stated that "If, without in any way disturbing a system, we can predict with certainty (i.e., with probability equal to unity) the value of a physical quantity.". From this, they stated that the second particle must already have a precise value before the measurement. The reason the observer does not know this value is due to his lack of knowledge of some "hidden variable" not

included in the theory. Theories trying to explain quantum mechanics results by including hidden variables are referred to as local hidden variable theories.

1.1.3 Bell theorem and CHSH inequality

In 1964, John Stewart Bell published "On the Einstein Podolsky Rosen paradox" [5] where he mathematically proved that the correlations between measurement outcomes predicted by quantum mechanics are incompatible with local hidden variable theories. Moreover, he stated that "If [a hidden-variable theory] is local it will not agree with quantum mechanics, and if it agrees with quantum mechanics it will not be local." [6], thus a non-local structure is an essential characteristic of any theory reproducing the predictions of quantum mechanics.

In particular, Bell considered the problem in which two independent observers perform measurements on two separated entangled particles and proved mathematically that, if the outcome of these measurements depends on some local hidden variables, the correlation between the outcomes is upper bounded. On the other hand, if we take into consideration quantum mechanics, the correlations can violate this inequality. This result is called Bell's theorem and the inequality is called Bell inequality. Beginning with this proof, several other versions of Bell inequality have been found. The first experiment showing a violation of a Bell inequality was accomplished by Freedman and Clauser [7]. Afterward, many other experiments has been carried out to test Bell's theorem, confirming that entangled states can violate Bell's inequalities. Between them we cite the experiment by Aspect, Dalibard and Roger [8].

In this thesis, we are going to consider the Clauser-Horne-Shimony-Holt (CHSH)[9] inequality. To introduce this inequality we consider the Bell experiment schematically reported in 1.2.



Figure 1.2: CHSH scenario - Alice (A) and Bob (B) share the two-qubit entangled state Ψ . Depending on their input value x and y, they obtain the outputs a and b, respectively.

In this experiment, a two-qubit entangled state is prepared. Each of the two qubits is sent to an independent observer. These observers, referred to as Alice and Bob, can choose one between two local measurements to perform on their half of the entangled state. In particular, they choose between two input values $x \in \{0, 1\}$ and $y \in \{0, 1\}$ for Alice and Bob respectively, and perform the corresponding measure. Thus, we are denoting as A_x and B_y Alice's and Bob's observables. The measurement outcome are labelled as $a \in \{0, 1\}$ for Alice and $b \in \{0, 1\}$ for Bob. The CHSH parameter can be defined as

$$S = \sum_{x,y=0,1} (-1)^{xy} \langle A_x B_y \rangle = \langle A_0 B_0 \rangle + \langle A_0 B_1 \rangle + \langle A_1 B_0 \rangle - \langle A_1 B_1 \rangle$$
(1.7)

where with $\langle \cdot \rangle$ we indicate the expectation value.

If the system can be described by a local hidden variable theory, we can write the CHSH inequality $S \leq 2$. On the other hand, if we consider quantum mechanics the CHSH parameter can reach the Tsirelson's bound $S \leq 2\sqrt{2}$. This boundary can be reached when Alice measures along two orthonormal basis vectors and Bob along the diagonal directions. For example, for the state $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{|00\rangle + |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$ Alice can measure $A_0 = \sigma_x$ and $A_1 = \sigma_z$, while Bob $B_0 = -\frac{\sigma_x + \sigma_z}{\sqrt{2}}$ and $B_1 = \frac{\sigma_x - \sigma_z}{\sqrt{2}}$. In the quantum case, we can rewrite the CHSH parameter as

$$S = \text{Tr} \left[\rho \left((A_0 + A_1) \otimes B_0 \right) \right] + \text{Tr} \left[\rho \left((A_0 - A_1) \otimes B_1 \right) \right]$$
(1.8)

where ρ is the state shared between Alice and Bob and Tr is the trace operator. These inequalities are fundamental for self-testing devices. Indeed when obtaining a CHSH inequality violation, we can deduce some properties of the state and the measurements that produced that violation. For example, if we reach the Tsirelson's bound we can affirm that the measurements are like the ones just reported, up to a global rotation.

1.1.4 Weak measurements

When an observer measures a quantum state it perturbs it. Weak measurements are a means for an observer to gain some partial information on a system while disturbing it only a bit. There will be a trade-off relation between how much information can be extracted from a system and how much the system is disturbed. On one hand, the weaker the measurement, the less information can be extracted, but the less the system is perturbed. The weakest measurement is the trivial measurement in which the observer simply does not perform any measurement, gaining no information, but leaving the state unperturbed. On the other hand, the stronger the measurement the more information can be obtained and the system is perturbed. The strongest measurement possible is the projective measurement, in which we obtain all the information of the state, but we project it on the measurement operator eigenspace. Practically, to perform this kind of measurement, it is necessary to weakly couple the system with the measurement device (usually called ancilla). The information will be obtained by measuring the ancilla.

Mathematically this kind of measurement can be described by a positive operator valued measure (POVM) $\{M_i\}$. If the dimension of the Hilbert space they are acting on is finite and the number of elements in the POVM is n, the POVM is simply a set of n positive semi-definite Hermitian matrices satisfying the completeness relation $\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i = 1$. Each element M_i of the set is associated with the measurement outcome i. When performing a measurement on the state ρ , the probability of obtaining the outcome i is $P_i = \text{Tr} [\rho M_i]$.

In the case of two-outcome measurements, a POVM simply becomes an ordered pair of positive semi-definite matrices (M_0, M_1) such that $M_0 + M_1 = 1$.

Given an observable O having only two possible values (for simplicity we can refer to them as 0 and 1), we can write the POVM associated with it as $\{M_i\}_{i=0,1}$ such that $M_0 - M_1 = O$. This relation together with the completeness relation allows us to write $M_0 = \frac{\mathbb{1}+O}{2}$ and $M_1 = \frac{\mathbb{1}-O}{2}$, thus $M_i = \frac{\mathbb{1}+(-1)^iO}{2}$.

A more complete description of weak measurements can be found in [10].

1.1.5 Quantum channels and Kraus operators

A quantum channel is a completely positive, trace-preserving map that transforms a state (represented by its density matrix) into another state, $\Phi : \rho \to \rho'$. To describe the action of this map it is possible to use the Kraus operators K_i :

$$\rho' = \Phi(\rho) = \sum_{i} K_i \rho K_i^{\dagger} \tag{1.9}$$

For the channel to be trace-preserving, the Kraus operators must satisfy the condition $\sum_i K_i K_i^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}$. If we consider the POVM $\{M_i\}$, the Kraus operators representing the quantum instrument are such that $M_i = K_i^{\dagger} K_i$. As long as the operators satisfy the previous relations, they do have not a univocal definition, thus we can use the Lüders rule and choose $K_i = \sqrt{M_i}$ [11].

In this thesis, we are going to consider projective measurements, which satisfy the additional property $M_i^2 = M_i$. In this case $K_i = \sqrt{M_i} = U_i M_i$ where U_i is an arbitrary unitary operator.

1.2 Sequential CHSH scenario

Up to this point, we only considered only two observers: Alice and Bob. In this section, we are going to introduce a more general problem that involves more observers on one of the two sides.

Since the work of Silva *et. al.*, [12], extensive research has been conducted on whether it is possible to re-use the post-measurement state of a Bell experiment to share nonlocality between several sequential observers. As in the standard scenario, the maximally entangled two-qubit state is shared between two initial observers Alice and Bob⁽¹⁾. They can both perform local measurements on their half of the state. Afterward, Bob⁽¹⁾ can relay his post-measurement state to another independent observer Bob⁽²⁾ who can also perform a local measurement, relay the post-measurement state to another observer, and so on. Each Bob has have his own input $y_i \in \{0, 1\}$ and output $b_i \in \{0, 1\}$. This scenario is schematically reported in figure 1.3.

Lots of research has been carried out on whether it is possible for each of these $Bob^{(i)}$ to violate the CHSH inequality together with Alice both in theory [13–23] and experiment [24–28]. A brilliant result recently obtained by Colbeck and Brown [29] is that an arbitrary number of Bob can achieve a CHSH violation with Alice.



Figure 1.3: Sequential CHSH scenario - Alice (A) and a first Bob $(B^{(1)})$ share the two-qubit entangled state Ψ . They both measure their half of the state. After his measurement $B^{(1)}$, relays the post-measurement state to $B^{(2)}$, who measures it and so on.

To perform such a task, weak measurements are considered to be fundamental. Indeed a projective measurement leaves the state separable, making it impossible for other subsequent observers to violate the CHSH inequality. On the other hand, by interacting weakly with the state, it is possible to tune the amount of non-locality used to violate the CHSH inequality and the amount left for the other observers.

Using the notions introduced in 1.1, we are now going to write the CHSH parameter for each Bob.

Consider the set two-outcome observables $\{A_x, B_{y_1}^{(1)}, \ldots, B_{y_n}^{(n)}\}$ with $x = \{0, 1\}$, $y_i = \{0, 1\}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$. The CHSH parameter S_k between Alice and Bob^(k) is

$$S_{k} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho^{(k)}\left((A_{0} + A_{1}) \otimes B_{0}^{(k)}\right)\right] + \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho^{(k)}\left((A_{0} - A_{1}) \otimes B_{1}^{(k)}\right)\right]$$
(1.10)

where $\rho^{(k)}$ is the state received by Bob^(k).

To write this state we need to write the Kraus operators associated with the previous measurements. Each observable is associated with the measurement operators $A_{a|x}$ and $B_{b_k|y_k}^{(k)}$, for Alice and $Bob^{(k)}$ respectively. We denote as $K_{b_k|y_k}^{(k)}$ the Kraus operators that represent the instrument used by $Bob^{(k)}$ to realise the measurement $B_{b_k|y_k}^{(k)} = \left(K_{b_k|y_k}^{(k)}\right)^{\dagger} K_{b_k|y_k}^{(k)}$.

Since each Bob acts independently, $Bob^{(k+1)}$ is ignorant of the input and output values of $Bob^{(k)}$, y_k and b_k . Then state shared between Alice and $Bob^{(k+1)}$ is $Bob^{(k)}$'s post-measurement state averaged over y_k and b_k . The state shared by Alice and $Bob^{(k+1)}$ can be obtained by the recursive relation

$$\rho^{(k+1)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b_k, y_k = 0, 1} \left(\mathbb{1} \otimes K_{b_k | y_k}^{(k)} \right) \rho^{(k)} \left(\mathbb{1} \otimes K_{b_k | y_k}^{(k)} \right)^{\dagger}$$
(1.11)

In chapters 2 and 3, we will use a slightly different notation for simplicity. Since we are going to consider only two observers other than Alice, we are going to call them Bob and Charlie. Bob's and Charlie's measurements, corresponding to the observables B_y and C_z with $y, z = \{0, 1\}$, will be noted simply as $B_{b|y}$ and $C_{c|z}$. With this notation, we can rewrite equation (1.11) as

$$\rho_{AC} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b,y=0,1} \left(\mathbb{1} \otimes K_{b|y} \right) \rho_{AB} \left(\mathbb{1} \otimes K_{b|y} \right)^{\dagger}$$
(1.12)

highlighting that ρ_{AB} is the state shared between Alice and Bob, while ρ_{AC} between Alice and Charlie.

As for the CHSH parameters, we can rewrite them as:

$$S_{AB} = \text{Tr}\left[\rho_{AB}\left((A_0 + A_1) \otimes B_0\right)\right] + \text{Tr}\left[\rho_{AB}\left((A_0 - A_1) \otimes B_1\right)\right]$$
(1.13)

$$S_{AC} = \text{Tr} \left[\rho_{AC} \left((A_0 + A_1) \otimes C_0 \right) \right] + \text{Tr} \left[\rho_{AC} \left((A_0 - A_1) \otimes C_1 \right) \right]$$
(1.14)

Chapter 2

Double violation

In this chapter, we will show that it is possible to have two sequential violations of the CHSH inequality between independent parties measuring one half of a two-qubit state using exclusively projective measurements.

First of all, we can observe that in the case of a single qubit, the only possible projective measurements are either basis measurements i.e. measurements in the direction of a certain Bloch vector $\{B_{0|y}, B_{1|y}\} = \{|\vec{v}\rangle, |-\vec{v}\rangle\}$, corresponding to a rank-1 projection, or trivial identity projections $\{B_{0|y}, B_{1|y}\} = \{1, 0\}$, for which the measurement outcome does not depend on the state. When these measures are performed on one qubit o an entangled pair, the former measurement makes the whole post-measurement state separable, thus it disentangles it, while the latter leaves it unchanged.

Since both Alice and Charlie do not need to relay their post-measurement state to anyone they can simply perform basis projections and consume all the entanglement making the state separable. As for Bob, since he can perform only a combination of the measurements just described, he can use one of three different strategy types:

- (I) Both measurements are rank-1 projection, thus the state becomes separable. This way Bob can violate the CHSH inequality, but, being the state separable, it is not possible to have a second violation.
- (II) Both measurements are trivial i.e. identity measurements. In this case, it is not possible to obtain a first violation, while the second one is possible.
- (III) One measurement is trivial and the other is a basis projection. Since one measurement is the identity, one output is simply discarded. Thus a first violation will be impossible, but a second one is still possible.

As we have just observed, these strategies, individually, can not achieve more than one CHSH inequality violation. The idea is to overcome these unsuccesses by exploiting classical shared randomness between the parties. This way it is possible to stochastically combine these individually unsuccessful strategies to achieve the two sequential violations of the CHSH inequality.

Practically this means that before the beginning of the experiment, the parties need

to share a correlated string of classical data, such as a sequence of random numbers. These data will allow them to decide which strategy to choose for each run of the experiment. Let $\lambda = 1, 2, 3$ be the variable stating which strategy to use. It is subject to some probability distribution $\{p_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda=1}^{3}$. We can redefine the CHSH parameter as the expectation value

$$S_{AB} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{3} p_{\lambda} S_{AB}^{(\lambda)} \tag{2.1}$$

where $S_{AB}^{(\lambda)}$ is the CHSH parameter between Alice and Bob as defined in equation (1.13). Analogously we can define the CHSH parameter $S_{AC}^{(\lambda)}$ between Alice and Charlie.

This scenario is schematically represented in figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Sequential CHSH scenario - Alice (A) and a first Bob $(B^{(1)})$ share and measure the two-qubit entangled state Ψ . Afterwards, $B^{(1)}$ relays the post-measurement state to $B^{(2)}$, who measures it and so on. Before the beginning of the experiment, all the observers can share a string of classically correlated data λ .

In the following, we are going to consider as initial state shared between Alice and Bob $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{|00\rangle + |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$, where $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ are the eigenstate of σ_z with eigenvalue 1 and -1 respectively.

Since all the states and measures we are going to consider lay on a 2D plane, we can, without loss of generality, restrain the problem to the XZ-disc of the Bloch sphere (the y component will be always 0).

2.1 Proof of principle

To begin with, we are proving that both Bob and Charlie can violate the CHSH inequality simply by using a strategy of type (I) to maximize $S_{AB}^{(1)}$, and (III) to maximize $S_{AC}^{(3)}$ and combining them afterward. Since we are not using strategy (II), p_2 is set to 0 and we can simply write $p_1 = p$ and $p_3 = 1-p$. We are going to consider the simple case $S_{AB} = S_{AC}$. In general, we are not interested in this condition, but it simplifies the calculation and it is enough to show that both parameters can be greater than 2 at the same time. The strategies we are using present some

parameters, which we will use for the maximization process. Finally we are going to find p to combine the strategies together such that $S^{(1)} = S^{(2)}$.

Strategy type (I) $(\lambda = 1)$: We start by choosing the observables. In particular Alice's observables are $A_0 = \frac{\sigma_x + \sigma_z}{\sqrt{2}}$ and $A_1 = \frac{\sigma_x - \sigma_z}{\sqrt{2}}$, Bob's are $B_0 = \cos \phi \sigma_x + \sin \phi \sigma_z$ and $B_1 = \sin \phi \sigma_x + \cos \phi \sigma_z$ and Charlie's are $C_0 = C_1 = \cos \phi \sigma_x + \sin \phi \sigma_z$ for a certain angle $\phi \in [0, 2\pi)$. As already mentioned in 1.1.5, Bob is allowed to perform a unitary operation which can depend on both Bob's input and output U_{yb} after the measurement. In this case, we choose them to be independent of the output b. When the input y = 0 we choose the identity operator, $U_0 = 1$, which means that no operation is performed on the measured state. As for the other input, $U_1 = e^{i(\phi - \frac{\pi}{4})\sigma_y}$, which, for a state having 0 y-component as in this case, is simply a rotation of $-\pi/4$ of the state in the XZ-plane.

We can use eq. (1.10) to compute the CHSH parameters for this strategy, obtaining

$$S_{AB}^{(1)} = 2\sqrt{2}\cos\phi \tag{2.2}$$

To compute the state shared between Alice and Charlie, ρ_{AC} we can use eq. (1.11). Since we are using projective measurements the Kraus operator can be simply written as $K_{b|y} = U_y B_{b|y}$, where $B_{b|y} = \frac{1+(-1)^b B_y}{2}$ is the measurement operator associated with the observable B_y . From these calculations, we obtain the second CHSH parameter

$$S_{AC}^{(1)} = \sqrt{2} \left(\cos \phi + \sin \phi \right)$$
 (2.3)

Now we can maximize $S_{AB}^{(1)}$, finding $S_{AB}^{(1)} = 2\sqrt{2}$ when $\phi = 0$. If we choose this measurement angle, the second CHSH parameter results in $S_{AC}^{(1)} = \sqrt{2}$.

Strategy type (III) $(\lambda = 3)$: In this case we choose as observables $A_0 = \cos \theta \sigma_x + \sin \theta \sigma_z$ and $A_1 = \cos \theta \sigma_x - \sin \theta \sigma_z$ for a certain angle θ , $B_0 = 1$ and $B_1 = \sigma_z$, $C_0 = \sigma_x$ and $C_1 = \sigma_z$. In this case, Bob does not perform any unitary transformation of the state after the measurement. Following the steps performed for the first strategy we obtain the following CHSH parameters

$$S_{AB}^{(3)} = 2\cos\theta \tag{2.4}$$

$$S_{AC}^{(3)} = 2\sin\theta + \cos\theta \tag{2.5}$$

Maximizing $S_{AC}^{(3)}$, we find $S_{AC}^{(3)} = \sqrt{5}$ for $\theta = \arctan 2$ and $S_{AB}^{(3)} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$.

We want to use the two strategies just found to compute the final CHSH parameters as defined in equation (2.1). Being p and 1 - p the probabilities to use strategies (I) and (III) respectively, we obtain

$$S_{AB} = pS_{AB}^{(1)} + (1-p)S_{AB}^{(3)} = 2\sqrt{2}p + \frac{4(1-p)}{\sqrt{5}}$$
(2.6)

$$S_{AC} = pS_{AC}^{(1)} + (1-p)S_{AC}^{(3)} = \sqrt{2}p + \sqrt{5}(1-p)$$
(2.7)

To verify that it is possible for both S_{AB} and S_{AC} to exceed 2, it is sufficient to check whether their value when $S_{AB} = S_{AC}$ is greater than 2. Imposing this condition we find the value $p = \frac{\sqrt{5}}{5\sqrt{2}+\sqrt{5}} \approx 0.240$ which leads to $S_{AB} = S_{AC} = \frac{6\sqrt{10}}{5\sqrt{2}+\sqrt{5}} \approx 2.039$, which is indeed greater than 2.

This simple computation shows that it is indeed possible for two observers performing sequential measurements on one half of a two-qubit maximally entangled state $|\phi^+\rangle$ to both violate the CHSH inequality, when classical correlation between the measurement choices is present.

2.2 Optimal trade-off

Let's consider once again Alice and Bob sharing the maximally entangled state $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{|00\rangle + |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$.

Since the qubit is not relayed to anyone afterward, the optimal measurements for Alice are always rank-1 projective. This corresponds to Alice measuring the observables $A_0 = \vec{a_0} \cdot \vec{\sigma}$ and $A_1 = \vec{a_1} \cdot \vec{\sigma}$ with $\|\vec{a_x}\| = 1$, x = 0, 1.

Every rotation of the vectors $\vec{a_0}$ and $\vec{a_1}$ can be absorbed into a global rotation of Bob's measurements via the relation $O \otimes \mathbb{1} |\phi\rangle = \mathbb{1} \otimes O^T |\phi\rangle$. For this reason, we can simply choose $\vec{a_0} = (\cos \theta, 0, \sin \theta)$ and $\vec{a_1} = (\cos \theta, 0, -\sin \theta)$ and restrict the problem to the unit disk identified by the interception between the XZ-plane and the Bloch sphere.

To do so we introduce the unnormalized states remotely prepared by Alice on Bob's side $\rho_{a|x}$. These correspond to the eigenvectors of Alice's observables, namely $\rho_{a|x} = \frac{1}{4} (\mathbb{1} + (-1)^a \vec{a_x} \cdot \vec{\sigma})$. We observe that, since Alice's measurement operators are trace-one and that the local state is maximally mixed, $p(a|x) = \text{Tr} [\rho_{a|x}] = 1/2$.

We will now rewrite the equation for the CHSH parameter in a slightly different, more convenient, way. Firstly, from the definition of the unnormalized states remotely prepared by Alice on Bob's side $\rho_{a|x}$, we define $\rho_x = \rho_{0|x} - \rho_{1|x} = \frac{\vec{a_x} \cdot \vec{\sigma}}{2}$. Using this definition for ρ_x , the CHSH parameter between Alice and Bob becomes

$$S_{AB} = \sum_{x,y=0,1} (-1)^{xy} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\rho_x B_y \right]$$
(2.8)

Considering that $C_z = 2C_0 - \mathbb{1}$ and remembering how the state ρ_{AC} can be obtained evolving ρ_{AB} from equation (1.12), we can rewrite S_{AC} as

$$S_{AC} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{x,z=0,1} (-1)^{xz} \sum_{y,b} \operatorname{Tr} \left(U_{by} \sqrt{B_{b|y}} \rho_x \sqrt{B_{b|y}} U_{by}^{\dagger} C_{0|z} \right)$$
(2.9)

Now we want to study the trade-off relation between S_{AB} and S_{AC} when Bob's measurements are projective, namely they satisfy $B_{b|y}B_{b'|y} = \delta_{b,b'}B_{b|y}$. As already discussed we can choose without loss of generality the Kraus operators in the form $K_{b|y} = U_{by}B_{b|y}$. Remembering also that the trace is cyclic the second CHSH parameter becomes

$$S_{AC} = \cos\theta \sum_{y,b} \operatorname{Tr} \left(B_{b|y} \sigma_X B_{b|y} U_{by}^{\dagger} C_{0|0} U_{by} \right) + \sin\theta \sum_{y,b} \operatorname{Tr} \left(B_{b|y} \sigma_Z B_{b|y} U_{by}^{\dagger} C_{0|1} U_{by} \right)$$
(2.10)

Also in this case we chose Charlie's measurements to be projective since, as in Alice's case, he does not need to relay the qubit to anyone afterward.

In the following, we are examining the three strategies we discussed at the beginning of this chapter one by one.

2.2.1 Strategy type (I)

As already discussed, this strategy corresponds to Bob performing two projections on basis vectors. We also remember that since Bob's measurement breaks the entanglement, this kind of strategy allows for a first Bell inequality violation $S_{AB} > 2$, but not a second one $S_{AC} > 2$.

By defining the rank-one projectors $P_{zyb} = U_{by}^{\dagger}C_{0|z}U_{by}$ we can rewrite equation (2.10) as

$$S_{AC} = \cos\theta \sum_{y,b} \operatorname{Tr} \left(B_{b|y} \sigma_X B_{b|y} P_{0yb} \right) + \sin\theta \sum_{y,b} \operatorname{Tr} \left(B_{b|y} \sigma_Z B_{b|y} P_{1yb} \right)$$
(2.11)

We can now write an upper bound for the parameter S_{AC} by assuming that P_{0yb} is aligned with the eigenvector with the largest eigenvalue of the operator $B_{b|y}\sigma_x B_{b|y}$ and, analogously P_{1yb} is aligned with $B_{b|y}\sigma_z B_{b|y}$. The upper bound on S_{AC} can be written as

$$S_{AC} \le \cos\theta \sum_{y,b} \lambda_{\max} \left[B_{b|y} \sigma_X B_{b|y} \right] + \sin\theta \sum_{y,b} \lambda_{\max} \left[B_{b|y} \sigma_Z B_{b|y} \right]$$
(2.12)

where $\lambda_{\max} \left[B_{b|y} \sigma_x B_{b|y} \right]$ and $\lambda_{\max} \left[B_{b|y} \sigma_z B_{b|y} \right]$ are the largest eigenvalues of $B_{b|y} \sigma_x B_{b|y}$ and $B_{b|y} \sigma_z B_{b|y}$ respectively.

Observe that an operator defined as $P(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma}) P$, with P rank-one projector, is a rank-one operator itself. Thus the operators $B_{b|y}\sigma_x B_{b|y}$ and $B_{b|y}\sigma_z B_{b|y}$ are rank-one and their spectra have the form $(\lambda, 0)$. For this reason we can write their largest eigenvalue as $\lambda_{\max} [P(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma})P] = \max\{0, \operatorname{Tr} [(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma})P]\}.$

Since $\operatorname{Tr}[(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma})P]$ is the expectation value of the observable $\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma}$ in the state P, we can expect that in the case $P = B_{b|y}$ this expectation value will be identical for b = 0 and b = 1, but with opposite signs, being one positive and one negative. For this reason, we expect that each of the two terms in equation (2.12) will have a contribution only from one value of b for each y value.

Finally, since when choosing Alice's measurement we decided to restrict the problem to the XZ-plane, the optimal choice for the Bloch vectors associated with Bob's measurements lay in the same plane, thus we can write $\vec{b_y} = (\cos \phi_y, 0, \sin \phi_y)$. With these choices, we can rewrite a simplified version for both the CHSH parameter between Alice and Bob S_{AB} and equation (2.12)

$$S_{AB} = (\vec{a}_0 + \vec{a}_1) \cdot \vec{b}_0 + (\vec{a}_0 - \vec{a}_1) \cdot \vec{b}_1 = 2\cos\theta\cos\phi_0 + 2\sin\theta\sin\phi_1$$
(2.13)

$$S_{AC} \le \cos\theta \left(|\cos\phi_0| + |\cos\phi_1| \right) + \sin\theta \left(|\sin\phi_0| + |\sin\phi_1| \right)$$
(2.14)

These relations show that the pair (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) is fully characterized by the variables (θ, ϕ_0, ϕ_1) .

As a first thing, we want to recover the classical boundary. To do so we can simply choose $\phi_0 = \phi_1 = -\theta$, which leads to $S_{AB} = 2 \cos(2\theta)$ and $S_{AC} = 2$. While $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{4}]$ we recover $0 \leq S_{AB} \leq 2$ and $S_{AC} = 2$. This choice is optimal because, being Bob's measurements both rank-1, the state relayed to Charlie is separable and can not violate the CHSH inequality, it can reach the value of 2 at the best.

Moving to the non-classical range $2 \leq S_{AB} \leq 2\sqrt{2}$, we are now going to look for the maximum value obtainable by S_{AC} for a certain S_{AB} . To do so, we are going to prove that for every pair (S_{AB}, S'_{AC}) obtained with (θ, ϕ_0, ϕ_1) , there exists another pair (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) , such that $S_{AC} \geq S'_{AC}$, obtained with $(\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}, \phi_0 = \phi, \phi_1 = \frac{\pi}{2} - \phi)$ for some $\phi \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$, thus this triple is the optimal choice for (θ, ϕ_0, ϕ_1) .

Firstly, since the value for S_{AB} should not change with this choice of the parameters, ϕ satisfy

$$2\cos\theta\cos\phi_0 + 2\sin\theta\sin\phi_1 = 2\sqrt{2}\cos\phi \qquad (2.15)$$

When $\phi_0 = 0$, $\phi_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\pm \theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ the left-hand-side of equation (2.15) is maximized/minimized and becomes $\pm 2\sqrt{2}$. Now we want to show that with this choice of ϕ we have $S_{AC} \geq S'_{AC}$. This last condition becomes

$$\cos\theta\left(|\cos\phi_0| + |\cos\phi_1|\right) + \sin\theta\left(|\sin\phi_0| + |\sin\phi_1|\right) \le \sqrt{2}\left(\cos\phi + \sin\phi\right) \quad (2.16)$$

In the range of our interest, without loss of generality, we can simplify this relation and drop the absolute values by taking $\phi_0, \phi_1 \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$.

After rearranging the disequality, squaring both sides and substituting ϕ via equation (2.15), we obtain

$$\cos^{2}\theta \left(\cos^{2}\phi_{0} + \cos^{2}\phi_{1}\right) + \sin^{2}\theta \left(\sin^{2}\phi_{0}^{2} + \sin^{2}\phi_{1}^{2}\right) + \sin(2\theta)\sin(\phi_{0} + \phi_{1}) \le 2 \quad (2.17)$$

We can finally differentiate the left-hand side with respect to ϕ_0 and ϕ_1 respectively and look for the maximum. We find that both the derivatives have two joint roots, one at $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, $\phi_0 + \phi_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$, and the other at $\theta = \phi_0 = \phi_1$. In both cases, the derivative with respect to θ vanishes. Both these solutions bring to a maximum value for the left-hand-side of equation (2.17) equal to 2, thus proving the inequality to hold.

Hence, we can choose parameters such that $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, $\phi_0 = \phi$ and $\phi_1 = \frac{\pi}{2} - \phi$. This brings us to the relations

$$S_{AB} = 2\sqrt{2}\cos\phi \tag{2.18}$$

$$S_{AC} \le \sqrt{2} \left(\cos \phi + \sin \phi \right) \tag{2.19}$$

To obtain the trade-off relation, we can simply substitute the former equation into the latter and obtain

$$S_{AC} \le \frac{S_{AB}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{8 - (S_{AB})^2}$$
 (2.20)

Since the inequality is tight, this trade-off relation is optimal. To prove the tightness of the inequality it is sufficient to observe that the strategy (I) proposed in section 2.1 has exactly this trade-off. We can also observe that the maximum of S_{AC} occurs at $S_{AB} = 2$ and gives $S_{AC} = 2$. This means that at the endpoint of its interval of validity, which is $2 \leq S_{AB} \leq 2\sqrt{2}$, this function meets the classical trade-off we already found in $0 \leq S_{AB} \leq 2$.

A plot of the optimal trade-off relation for this strategy type is reported in blue in figure 2.2. In the figure are also plotted two black dashed lines highlighting the classical bound $\{S_{AB}, S_{AC}\} = \{2, 2\}$ and two light green lines highlighting the Tsirelson's bound $\{S_{AB}, S_{AC}\} = \{2\sqrt{2}, 2\sqrt{2}\}.$



Figure 2.2: Trade-off relation between the CHSH parameters S_{AB} and S_{AC} for strategies of type (I) (blue). The dashed black and green lines represent the classical and Tsirelson's bounds respectively.

2.2.2 Strategy type (II)

We can now move to the second strategy, in which Bob performs only trivial projective measurements. With this strategy we do not expect any CHSH violation for Bob, only S_{AC} can be greater than 2. This corresponds to deterministically choosing a value for b based on y without taking into consideration the quantum state. The operators representing this kind of measurement are (1,0) which gives always b = 0as output, or (0,1) giving always the output b = 1. From the expression for S_{AB} given in equation (2.9) it is immediate to find that $S_{AB} = 0$. In the case in which also Alice performs trivial (identity) measurements the value for S_{AB} could be increased to $S_{AB} = 2$, but this would imply that $S_{AC} \leq 2$. Even though this case exists, it is not interesting in our context since this does not lead to any CHSH violation at all. We want to find an expression for S_{AC} in the case in which Alice performs rank-1 projective measurements and, thus $S_{AB} = 0$. Since Bob's instrument becomes only a unitary operator, the post-measurement state becomes $\rho' = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{y} (\mathbb{1} \otimes V_y) \phi^+ (\mathbb{1} \otimes V_y^{\dagger})$ where V_y is the operator in $\{U_{0y}, U_{1y}\}$ associated to the only possible output (unit probability event) of Bob's measurements. It is trivial to see that an optimal choice can simply be $V_y = \mathbb{1}$, which leaves the state unperturbed, $\rho' = \phi^+$. If we consider Alice and Charlie now, we are in a simple Bell scenario and, thus Charlie can reach the Tsirelson bound $S_{AC} = 2\sqrt{2}$ by performing the measurements σ_X and σ_Z , while Alice chooses as measurement angle $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$. It is interesting to observe that contrary to the first and the third strategies, in which, as we will see, we can find a trade-off relation between S_{AB} and S_{AC} , this trivial strategy trade-off is simply the point: $(S_{AB}, S_{AC}) = (0, 2\sqrt{2})$.

2.2.3 Strategy type (III)

We recall that this kind of strategy consists in Bob performing one trivial (identity) measurement and one basis projection. With this strategy we expect only Charlie to be able to violate CHSH.

Firstly we observe that the CHSH parameter is invariant the following under coordinate permutations: $\{y \to \bar{y} \& a \to \bar{a} \text{ if } x = 1\}$ and $\{b \to \bar{b} \text{ if } y = 0 \& x \to \bar{x} \& a \to \bar{a}\}$ where with the bar we denote the bit-flip operation. For this reason, we can, without loss of generality, assign to the input y = 0 the single outcome b = 0, meaning that the first observable $B_0 = 1$, while the second measurement will be a basis projection corresponding to the observable $B_1 = \vec{b} \cdot \vec{\sigma}$, where \vec{b} is a unit Bloch vector. Thus the operators associated with the measurements can be written as $B_{0|0} = 1$, $B_{1|0} = 1$ and $B_{b|1} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + (-1)^b \vec{b} \cdot \vec{\sigma} \right)$.

As for the unitaries implemented by Bob's measurements, thanks to the invariance under a global rotation of the unitaries U_{by} , we may fix a reference one, in this case, we choose $U_{00} = 1$. We can also notice that, since $B_{1|0} = 0$, the post-measurement state will not depend on the choice of U_{10} . Moreover, for y = 1 we can use some considerations pointed out when considering the first strategy. In particular, we remember that, given a unit vector \vec{u} , the eigenvector of $B_{b|y}(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma})B_{b|y}$ corresponding to its largest eigenvalue is identical for both b = 0 and b = 1, with one positive eigenvalue and the other zero.

Remembering from equation (2.10) that the unitaries aim to align the projectors $C_{0|0}$ and $C_{0|1}$ with the eigenvectors of $B_{b|y}(\vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma})B_{b|y}$. Since, as just discussed, these eigenvectors do not depend on b, we can optimally choose $U_{01} = U_{11} \equiv U_1$.

As discussed in the first strategy, since the states remotely prepared for Bob by Alice are in the XZ-plane, thus it is optimal for him to choose $\vec{b} = (\cos \phi, 0, \sin \phi)$. So the first CHSH parameter is $S_{AB} = 2 \sin \theta \sin \phi$. Taking into consideration the considerations just made on the unitaries, we remain with only one unitary. We can optimally take it as a rotation in the XZ-plane, $U_1 = e^{i\mu\sigma_y}$. Finally, writing Charlie's measurements in terms of Bloch vectors, always in the XZ-plane, $\vec{c}_z = (\cos \phi_z, 0, \sin \phi_z)$, we can write the second CHSH parameter as

$$S_{AC} = \frac{1}{2}\cos\theta\left(\cos(2\mu + 2\phi - \phi_0) + \cos(2\mu - \phi_0) + 2\cos\phi_0\right) + \frac{1}{2}\sin\theta\left(\sin(2\mu + 2\phi - \phi_1) - \sin(2\mu - \phi_1) + 2\sin\phi_1\right)$$
(2.21)

Deriving this expression with respect to μ , ϕ_0 , ϕ_1 , ϕ , one finds out that when $\phi_0 = \mu = 0$ and $\phi = \phi_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$ all the derivatives vanish and, considering the concavity of the manifold, we can deduce that this set of variables, which gives $S_{AC} = \cos \theta + 2 \sin \theta$, is optimal. We observe that $\phi = \frac{\pi}{2}$ is a maximum also for S_{AB} leading to $S_{AB} = 2 \sin \theta$. Comparing these two final expressions for the CHSH parameters we find the optimal trade-off relation which is

$$S_{AC} = S_{AB} + \sqrt{1 - \frac{(S_{AB})^2}{4}} \tag{2.22}$$

From this equation we see that when $S_{AB} = \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$, S_{AC} is maximized and we have $S_2 = \sqrt{5} > 2$. When $S_{AB} < \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$, which means $\theta < \arcsin \frac{2}{\sqrt{5}}$, this solution is not optimal. Anyway, $S_{AB} < \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$ the optimal trade-of is simply given by $S_{AC} = \sqrt{5}$ with no dependence on S_{AB} . Indeed this is the maximum value S_{AC} can assume when the only constraint on Bob's measurements is the rank, thus the strategy. Indeed, if we set $\phi_0 = 0$, $\phi = \phi_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\mu = \frac{1}{2} \arccos \left(\frac{\sqrt{5} - \sin \theta}{\sin \theta + \cos \theta} \right)$, we obtain $S_{AC} = \sqrt{5}$ for every value of θ , while leaving S_{AB} free to change.

In figure 2.3 we report the plot of the optimal trade-off relation for this strategy type in yellow. In the figure are also plotted two dashed black and a green line highlighting the classical bound $\{S_{AB}, S_{AC}\} = \{2, 2\}$ and the Tsirelson's bound $S_{AC} = 2\sqrt{2}$ respectively.



Figure 2.3: Trade-off relation between the CHSH parameters S_{AB} and S_{AC} for strategies of type (III) (yellow). The dashed black and green lines represent the classical and Tsirelson's bounds respectively.

2.2.4 Mixing via shared randomness

We are now going to combine stochastically these three projective strategies to find the optimal trade-off between S_{AB} and S_{AC} .

We start by observing that apart from the case (II) in which we found a single point in the plane, the other two trade-offs are concave functions.

The mixing of such functions via shared randomness is their linear combination with all non-negative coefficients which sum up to 1. This is justified if we remember that the combination coefficient associated with a function corresponds to the probability of using that strategy. Performing such a combination is equivalent to finding the convex hull of the set defined by the functions.

In the following, we are considering this mixing procedure case by case.

Mixing (II) and (III)

We start remembering that the optimal trade-off for strategy (II) and (III) are respectively the point $(0, 2\sqrt{2})$ and the function $S_{AC} = S_{AB} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{4 - S_{AB}^2}$.

For simplicity, in the following, we are going to consider the variable x and its function f(x) instead of S_{AB} and S_{AC} respectively.

Thanks to the geometrical considerations we just made, we only need to look for the line tangent to the function $f(x) = x + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{4-x^2}$ and passing through the point $(0, 2\sqrt{2})$. To find the point of tangency we need to solve the equation

$$f(x_1) - 2\sqrt{2} = f'(x_1)(x_1 - 0) \tag{2.23}$$

where f'(x) is the first derivative of f. Since $S_{AB} > 0$, we can consider only the positive solution obtaining the point $(x_1, f(x_1)) = (\sqrt{\frac{7}{2}}, \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} + \sqrt{\frac{7}{2}})$. It is important to notice that the point of tangency we found $x_1 = \sqrt{\frac{7}{2}}$ is greater than $\frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$. Indeed, when we studied case (III) we discussed that equation (2.22) represents the trade-off only when $S_{AB} > \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$, while for $0 < S_{AB} < \frac{4}{\sqrt{5}}$ the trade-off is simply $S_{AC} = \sqrt{5}$.

Returning to the original notation, we write the tangent line as

$$S_{AC} = \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{7}}{2}\right)S_{AB} + 2\sqrt{2}$$
 (2.24)

which will be the boundary we are looking for in the interval $0 \le x \le \frac{\sqrt{7}}{2}$.

In figure 2.4 we report in yellow the trade-off between S_{AB} and S_{AC} for type III. The red line is its tangent line passing through the point defined by strategy type II, $(0, 2\sqrt{2})$. The black points highlight this point and the point of tangency. As in previous figures, we also reported with black and green dashed lines the classical and Tsirelson's bounds.



Figure 2.4: Tangent line (red) to the trade-off relation for strategies of type (III) (yellow) passing through the point $(0, 2\sqrt{2})$. The dashed black and green lines represent the classical and Tsirelson's bounds respectively.

Mixing (I) and (III)

Now we move to the mixing of the two non-trivial strategies. Thus we are looking for the line tangent to both the trade-off functions.

For simplicity, instead of equations (2.20) and (2.22) we are going to consider the functions $f(x) = x + \sqrt{1 - \frac{x^2}{4}}$ and $g(x) = \frac{x}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{8 - x^2}$.

To find the points of tangency $(x_1, f(x_1))$ and $(x_2, g(x_2))$ we need to solve the two equations

$$f'(x_1) = g'(x_2) = \frac{f(x_1) - g(x_2)}{x_1 - x_2},$$
(2.25)

where f' and g' are the first derivative of f and g respectively. The solution is

$$x_1 = 3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}}$$
 $x_2 = 4\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}}.$ (2.26)

Going back to the original notation we find the tangent

$$S_{AC} = \sqrt{10} - \frac{S_{AB}}{2} \tag{2.27}$$

In between the two points of tangency, namely $3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \leq S_{AB} \leq 4\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}}$, this is another portion of the boundary.

In figure 2.5 we report in yellow and blue the optimal trade-off between S_{AB} and S_{AC} for type (III) and type (I) strategies respectively. The green line between them is their common tangent line and the black points highlight the points of tangency. As in previous figures, we also reported with black and green dashed lines the classical

and Tsirelson's bounds.



Figure 2.5: Common tangent line (green) to the trade-off curves for strategies of type (I) (blue) and (III) (yellow). The dashed black and green lines represent the classical and Tsirelson's bounds respectively.

Mixing (I) and (II)

We can now compute the tangent to the curve given by (2.20) through the point $(0, 2\sqrt{2})$ as already done previously.

Instead of writing the curve as in (2.20) we use $g(x) = \frac{x}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{8-x^2}$ and look for the tangency point by solving

$$g(x_1) - 2\sqrt{2} = g'(x_1)(x_1 - 0) \tag{2.28}$$

and choosing the positive solution.

The point of tangency results to be $(\sqrt{6}, \frac{\sqrt{2}+\sqrt{6}}{2})$. And the tangent can be written as

$$S_{AC} = \frac{(1-\sqrt{3})S_{AB}}{2} + 2\sqrt{2}$$
(2.29)

As we can see in figure 2.6, this line (pink) is inside of the region described by the previously calculated curves (dashed red, yellow, and green lines), thus it is not going to be part of the boundary. This means that it is always possible to obtain a better trade-off by mixing other strategies, thus we are not going to use this case. In the plot, we highlighted points A, B, C, and D in which the function defining the boundary changes. In the subplot, we highlighted a region in which the optimal trade-off is simply given by choosing deterministically a strategy of type III. We are going to better discuss this region in the following.



Figure 2.6: Plot - Tangent line (solid pink line) to the trade-off curve for strategies of type (I) (solid blue line) passing through the point $(0, 2\sqrt{2})$. This line is always under the curves obtained by mixing strategies of type (II) and (III) (dashed red line between A and B), (II) and (III) (dashed green line between C and D) or deterministically using type (III) (dashed yellow between B and C). The dashed black and green lines represent the classical and Tsirelson's bounds respectively. Subplot - Zoom on the region between points B and C.

Intermediate regions

Up to now, we found the optimal trade-off in the intervals $0 \leq S_{AB} \leq \sqrt{\frac{7}{2}}$ and $3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \leq S_{AB} \leq 4\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}}$. To cover the complete interval $0 \leq S_{AB} \leq 2\sqrt{2}$ we need to determine the optimal trade-off in

$$\sqrt{\frac{7}{2}} < S_{AB} < 3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \tag{2.30}$$

$$4\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} < S_{AB} \le 2\sqrt{2} \tag{2.31}$$

Since these intervals are not covered by the mixture of different strategies, the boundary in those regions is simply a deterministic strategy. In particular, in the interval (2.30) the deterministic strategy (III) is optimal, thus in that interval, the boundary is represented by equation (2.22). As for the other interval, the deterministic the optimal deterministic strategy is (I), thus the boundary is given by (2.20). The complete boundary of the set (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) reachable by means of projective measurements and with shared randomness is given by the four-part

piecewise function

$$S_{AC} = \begin{cases} \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{7}}{2}\right) S_{AB} + 2\sqrt{2} & \text{if } 0 \le S_{AB} \le \sqrt{\frac{7}{2}} \\ S_{AB} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{4 - (S_{AB})^2} & \text{if } \sqrt{\frac{7}{2}} < S_{AB} < 3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \\ \sqrt{10} - \frac{S_{AB}}{2} & \text{if } 3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \le S_{AB} \le 4\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \\ \frac{S_{AB}}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{8 - (S_{AB})^2} & \text{if } 4\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} < S_{AB} \le 2\sqrt{2} \end{cases}$$
(2.32)

This function is represented in figure 2.7. In the plot, we report as dashed lines the trade-off relations found for strategies of type (I) and (III) when they are not part of the boundary. The solid lines form the boundary, while the black points highlight the passage from one definition interval to another one. The colors of the lines are the same used in the previous plots, namely yellow for type III, blue for type I, red for a combination of (II) and III, and green for the combination of (I) and III. In the subplot, we highlight the region where the boundary is reached by deterministically choosing type (III) strategies.



Figure 2.7: Plot - Boundary of the set (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) reachable under projective measurements and shared randomness (solid lines). The color of the lines corresponds to the strategy needed to reach it: yellow for type III, blue for type I, red for a combination of (II) and III, and green for the combination of (I) and III. The dashed lines are the relations obtained in cases (I) (blue) and (III) (yellow) when they are not part of the boundary. The black points highlight the change in the definition of the function. Subplot - Zoom on the region where strategy (III) is part of the boundary.

2.3 Only local randomness

In the above protocols, we have exploited some classical shared randomness. We are now going to show, with an example that this useful resource is not strictly necessary. Indeed even classically independent parties, thus with no shared randomness, can reach at least two sequential CHSH violations using projective measurements. In this case, the observers are only allowed to generate classical randomness locally. This corresponds to replacing the collective variable λ with a triple of variables associated with Alice, Bob, and Charlie respectively $(\lambda_A, \lambda_B, \lambda_C)$. The independence of the observers can be expressed by the factorization of the probability, namely $p(\lambda) = p(\lambda_A)p(\lambda_B)p(\lambda_C)$.

In this quantum strategy, we are allowing only Bob to use local randomness, while Alice and Charlie will not use it.

Alice's and Charlie's observables are $A_0 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\sigma_X + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_Z$, $A_1 = \cos(2)\sigma_X - \sin(2)\sigma_Z$, $C_0 = \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{3e}\right)\sigma_X - \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{3e}\right)\sigma_Z$, $C_1 = \cos\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)\sigma_X + \sin\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)\sigma_Z$. Bob, instead, can randomly choose between two strategies, labeled $\lambda_B \in \{0, 1\}$. The probability for him to use the strategy $\lambda_B = 0$ is $q = p(\lambda_B = 0)$. When $\lambda_B = 0$, Bob measures $B_0^{(0)} = \cos\left(\frac{2}{17}\right)\sigma_X + \sin\left(\frac{2}{17}\right)\sigma_Z$ and $B_1^{(0)} = \frac{\sigma_X + \sigma_Z}{\sqrt{2}}$. Then he applies the unitary operators $U_{00}^{(0)} = U_{10}^{(0)} = \mathbb{1}$ and $U_{01}^{(0)} = U_{11}^{(0)} = e^{-\frac{2\pi}{27}i\sigma_Y}$. When $\lambda_B = 1$, Bob measures $B_0^{(1)} = \mathbb{1}$ and $B_1^{(1)} = \frac{\sigma_X + \sigma_Z}{\sqrt{2}}$. Then he applies $U_{00}^{(1)} = e^{-\frac{5\pi}{81}i\sigma_Y}$, $U_{10}^{(1)} = \mathbb{1}$ and $U_{01}^{(1)} = U_{11}^{(1)} = e^{-\frac{2\pi}{27}i\sigma_Y}$.

If we look for the condition $S_{AB} = S_{AC}$, we find the solution $q \approx 0.358$, which gives $S_{AB} = S_{AC} \approx 2.046 > 2$, thus a double violation of the inequality.

It is interesting to point out that, since in this case Alice and Charlie do not rely on any shared randomness, from their point of view this experiment is identical to the standard CHSH scenario. The remarkable difference is that Bob can decide which set of observables to measure, independently from Alice and Charlie.

Chapter 3

Partially entangled state

In the standard CHSH scenario maximally entangled states are necessary to reach the largest CHSH parameter. We are now going to show that in the sequential scenario when using projective measurements, this is not true anymore. Thus we are going to study the same scenario as in chapter 2 if, instead of using the initial state $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{|00\rangle + |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$, we use the pure state $|\psi_{\varphi}\rangle = \cos \varphi |00\rangle + \sin \varphi |11\rangle$ with $\varphi \in [0, \frac{\pi}{4}]$. As in the previous case, we can restrict Alice's and Charlie's measurement to the XZ-plane without loss of generality. As for Bob's measurements, we can restrict them on that plane too when they are represented by rank-1 operators.

Firstly, we are going to describe some analytical strategies producing couples of CHSH parameters outside the boundary described by equation (2.32). These strategies will show that, in certain cases, with partially entangled states it is possible to outperform maximally entangled ones. Afterwards, we are proving that every pure state $|\psi_{\varphi}\rangle$ can produce a couple $(S_{AB}, S_{AC}) > (2, 2)$.

3.1 Outperforming maximally entangled states

3.1.1 Strategy type (I)

To start we remember that in this strategy type Bob performs two rank-1 projective measurements.

In the following, we are going to present a particular strategy. We were not able to numerically obtain any type (I) strategy better than this, for any value of the angle φ .

Alice's observables of this strategy are $A_0 = \sigma_X$ and $A_1 = \sigma_Z$, while Bob's ones are $B_0 = \cos \phi \sigma_X + \sin \phi \sigma_Z$ and $B_1 = \cos \phi \sigma_X - \sin \phi \sigma_Z$. Finally Charlie's observables are $C_0 = \cos \phi \sigma_X + \sin \phi \sigma_Z$ and $C_1 = -\cos \phi \sigma_X - \sin \phi \sigma_Z$. The unitaries used by Bob after the measurements are $U_{by} = U_y$ with $U_0 = 1$ and $U_1 = e^{i(\phi - \frac{\pi}{2})\sigma_Y}$. The

CHSH parameters obtained from these measurements are

$$S_{AB} = 2\left(\cos\phi\sin(2\varphi) + \sin\phi\right) \tag{3.1}$$

$$S_{AC} = 2\sin\phi \tag{3.2}$$

Finding $\sin \phi$ from the first equation and substituting it into the second one we find

$$S_{AC} = \frac{1}{1 + \sin(2\varphi)^2} \left(S_{AB} + \sin(2\varphi) \sqrt{4\left(1 + \sin(2\varphi)^2\right) - (S_{AB})^2} \right)$$
(3.3)

As expected, it we choose $\varphi = \frac{\pi}{4}$ we recover (2.20). In this case, we could not find any evidence that partially entangled states could produce larger violations than maximally entangled ones. In figure 3.1, we report this trade-off relation for some φ values.



Figure 3.1: Type (I) strategy trade-off for partially entangled states for some values of φ .

3.1.2 Strategy type (II)

In this case, Bob can only perform trivial measurements. The strategy we are going to describe is the optimal one for this kind. Since Bob observables are $B_0 = B_1 = 1$, the first CHSH parameter is $S_{AB} = 2\langle A_0 \otimes 1 \rangle = 2 \operatorname{Tr} \left[A_0 \left(\cos^2 \varphi \left| 0 \right\rangle \langle 0 \right| + \sin \varphi^2 \left| 1 \right\rangle \langle 1 \right| \right) \right]$. When Alice measures $A_0 = \sigma_Z$, the parameter becomes $S_{AB} = 2 \cos (2\varphi)$, which is optimal because 0 and 1 are eigenvectors of sigma z. To choose Charlie's measurements we consider that the optimal CHSH parameter value for any state $|\psi_{\varphi}\rangle$ is $2\sqrt{1 + \sin (2\varphi)^2}$ [30]. This can be reached if we let Charlie measure $C_0 = \cos \phi \sigma_x + \sin \phi \sigma_z$ and $C_1 = -\cos \phi \sigma_x + \sin \phi \sigma_z$ with $\phi = \arctan(\sin(2\varphi))$. From this, we can deduce that the strategy is optimal. We can conclude that optimal

type (II) strategies produce

$$S_{AB} = 2\cos\left(2\varphi\right) \tag{3.4}$$

$$S_{AC} = 2\sqrt{1 + \sin\left(2\varphi\right)^2} \tag{3.5}$$

Inverting the first equation and substituting $\varphi = \frac{1}{2} \arccos\left(\frac{S_{AB}}{2}\right)$ in the second one we find the trade-off relation

$$S_{AC} = \sqrt{8 - (S_{AB})^2} \tag{3.6}$$

Even if, being deterministic, this strategy cannot produce double violations, we can observe that it can outperform what is attainable with maximally entangled states. Indeed, comparing this function with the boundary we found for maximally entangled states in equation (2.32), we find the former exceeds the latter when $0 < S_{AB} < h$ where

$$h = \frac{8\sqrt{2}}{113} \left(7\sqrt{7} - 2\right) \approx 1.65 \tag{3.7}$$

In figure 3.2 we report the plot of this trade-off together with the boundary function.



Figure 3.2: Type (II) strategy trade-off for partially entangled states φ (blue) compared with the boundary function (red).

3.1.3 Strategy type (III)

In this case, Bob has one trivial and one rank-1 projective measurement. Also, we are going to show that there exist strategies producing couples (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) laying outside the boundary for the maximally entangled state. We are doing so by presenting an example strategy. Again these points will not be double violations since we are considering a deterministic strategy.

The measurements are $A_x = (-1)^x \cos \theta \sigma_X + \sin \theta \sigma_Z$ for Alice, $B_0 = 1$ and $B_1 = \sigma_X$

for Bob, $C_0 = \sigma_Z$ and $C_1 = \sigma_X$ for Charlie. Bob is not required to perform any unitary operation after his measurement $(U_{by} = 1)$. The expressions for the CHSH parameters in this case are

$$S_{AB} = 2\sin\left(\theta + 2\varphi\right) \tag{3.8}$$

$$S_{AC} = \sin\theta + 2\cos\theta\sin\left(2\varphi\right) \tag{3.9}$$

Inverting the first one we find $\theta = \pi - 2\varphi - \arcsin\left(\frac{S_{AB}}{2}\right)$. Substituting this relation in the second one we obtain

$$S_{AC} = \sin(2\varphi) \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{S_{AB}}{2}\right)^2 (1 - 2\cos(2\varphi)) + \frac{S_{AB}}{2} \left(2\sin(2\varphi)^2 + \cos(2\varphi)\right)}$$
(3.10)

Maximizing this last equation over φ we find an expression for the optimal angle φ

$$\varphi = \arccos\left(\frac{1}{4}\sqrt{9 - \sqrt{g(S_{AB})} + \sqrt{33 - g(S_{AB}) + \frac{8S_{AB}^2}{\sqrt{g(S_{AB})}}}}\right)$$
(3.11)

where

$$g(x) = 11 + h(x) + (121 - 24x^2)/h(x)$$

$$h(x) = \left(8x^4 - 396x^2 + 8x^2\sqrt{x^4 + 117x^2 - 484} + 1331\right)^{1/3}$$
(3.12)

The optimal trade-off for this strategy, which is not, in general, the best for all strategies of type (III), can be recovered by substituting this expression for φ in equations (3.12).

To show that this strategy can outperform what is obtainable by the maximally entangled state we can simply compare the trade-off obtained with the boundary in equation (2.32). As shown in figure 3.3 this is the case between points A and B, hence while $1.84 \leq S_{AB} \leq 1.99$. Observing how the angle φ changes with S_{AB} , we notice that the entanglement becomes weaker when S_{AB} increases and reaches $\varphi \approx 0.686$ for $S_{AB} \approx 1.99$.

We studied this strategy because it brings an analytic expression for the trade-off. We also numerically searched over general quantum strategies of this kind. As a result, we found that for any value of S_{AB} , the improvement in S_{AC} is at most 2×10^{-3} .

3.1.4 Double violation

Now we report an immediate way to see that with partially entangled states it is possible to outperform the result found with maximally entangled states. We can simply consider the three strategies presented in the previous sections and use shared randomness to combine them. Using equations (3.1), (3.2), (3.4), (3.5), (3.8) and



Figure 3.3: Plot - Type (III) strategy trade-off for partially entangled states φ (blue) compared with the boundary function (red). Subplot - Zoom of the region where a partially entangled state can outperform a maximally entangled one.

(3.9) obtain the following CHSH parameters

$$S_{AB} = 2(p_1 \sin(2\varphi)\cos\phi + p_1\sin\phi + p_2\cos(2\varphi) + p_3\sin(\theta + 2\varphi))$$
(3.13)

$$S_{AC} = 2p_1 \sin \phi + 2p_2 \cos(2\varphi) + p_3 \sin \theta (2\sin(2\varphi) + 1)$$
(3.14)

where p_1 , p_2 , and p_3 are the probabilities to use the strategies of type (I), (II), and (III) respectively.

We can consider the simple case in which $\phi = 2\varphi$, $\theta = 2\varphi$, and $p_2 = 0$. With these simplifying assumptions and remembering that $p_1 + p_2 + p_3 = 1$, the relations for S_{AB} and S_{AC} become

$$S_{AB} = 2p_1 \sin(2\varphi) + (2 - p_1) \sin(4\varphi)$$
(3.15)

$$S_{AC} = \sin(2\varphi)(1 + p_1 + 2(1 - p_1)\sin(2\varphi))$$
(3.16)

If we now consider the angle $\varphi = \frac{7\pi}{36}$ and impose the condition $S_{AB} = S_{AC}$, we find that for $p_1 \approx 0.644 \ S_{AB} = S_{AC} \approx 2.136$. Even if these choices for the strategy parameters are sub-optimal, this CHSH value is larger than what it is possible to obtain with maximally entangled states. Indeed if we impose the same $S_{AB} = S_{AC}$ constrain to equation (2.32), we find $S_{AB} = S_{AC} = 2.108 < 2.136$.

To better see how certain states can outperform maximally entangled ones, we considered generic measurements for Alice, Bob, and Charlie, unitaries for Bob as well as the distribution $\{p_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda=1}^{3}$. Then we numerically maximized S_{AC} for a given value of S_{AB} .

In figure 3.4 we illustrate the results of this maximization for some fixed values of φ together with the boundary given by equation (2.32). Notice that for both $\varphi = \frac{\pi}{6}$

and $\varphi = \frac{2\pi}{9}$ we found many points going beyond the boundary. In particular, as shown in the right plot of figure 3.4 the angle $\varphi = \frac{2\pi}{9}$ presents an improvement also in the double violation region.



Figure 3.4: Left - Numeric optimization of a generic strategy for some values φ together with the boundary function (red). Right - Focus on the double violation region for $\varphi = \frac{2\pi}{9}$.

3.2 Double violation with generic pure entangled states

Now we are going to show that every pure entangled state $|\psi_{\varphi}\rangle$ can produce a double CHSH violation. We are proving this by considering only combinations of strategies of type (I) and (II) for simplicity. In particular, we are going to consider the strategies described in section 3.1.1 and 3.1.2. We are looking for the tangent line to the trade-off equations (3.3) passing through the point described by (3.4) and (3.5). Given this tangent, we can find its intersections with the lines $S_{AB} = 2$ and $S_{AC} = 2$. Finally, we can check whether the non-fixed coordinate of these points is greater than 2. If this is the case for both the points, we can conclude that there exists a region in the (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) -plane inside which we find both CHSH parameters violate the Bell inequality.

More in detail, to find the tangent we start by looking for the point of tangency $(x_1, f(x_1))$ by solving the following equation

$$f(x_1) - y_P = f'(x_1)(x_1 - x_P)$$
(3.17)

where the function f(x) is simply equation (3.3) with the substitution $S_{AB} \to x$, x_P and y_P are the coordinates of the point given by equations (3.4) and (3.5).

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{1 + \sin^2(2\varphi)} \left(x + \sin(2\varphi) \sqrt{4 \left(1 + \sin(2\varphi)^2 \right) - x^2} \right)$$
(3.18)

$$(x_P, y_P) = \left(2\cos\left(2\varphi\right), 2\sqrt{1 + \sin\left(2\varphi\right)^2}\right)$$
(3.19)

Once obtained the point x_1 , the tangent line is simply $t(x) = f'(x_1)(x - x_1) + f(x_1)$. Finally we can find the coordinates of the intersection points $S_{AC}(s_{AB}=2) = (2, t(2))$ and $S_{AB}(s_{AC}=2) = (t^{-1}(2), 2)$ where $t^{-1}(x)$ is the inverse function of t(x). Unfortunately, both the expression for the tangent and these points are cumbersome, so we do not report it. On the other hand, we are going to plot the y-coordinate of $S_{AC}(s_{AB}=2)$ and the x-coordinate of $S_{AB}(s_{AC}=2)$ as a function of φ in figure 3.5. From the plot it is already possible to observe that these curves are greater than 2 for $\varphi \neq 0$, thus when $\varphi \neq 0$ both S_{AB} and S_{AC} exceed the local bound.

To be more quantitative we can expand the expression for these curves for $\varphi \approx 0$. We find

$$S_{AB}(S_{AC}=2) = 2 + 4\left(\sqrt{2} - 1\right)\varphi^2 + O(\varphi^3)$$
(3.20)

$$S_{AC}(S_{AB}=2) = 2 + 2\left(2 - \sqrt{2}\right)\varphi^2 + O(\varphi^3)$$
(3.21)

This proves that both interception points are above the local bound, thus that for $\varphi \neq 0$ the tangent passes through the double violation region, namely $(S_{AB}, S_{AC}) > 2$, in the (S_{AB}, S_{AC}) -plane.



Figure 3.5: Dependendence of the points $S_{AC}(s_{AB}=2)$ and $S_{AB}(s_{AC}=2)$ as a function of φ for the tangent line between the curve (3.18) and the point (3.19). For $\varphi \neq 0$ both the curves are always greater than 2, thus the tangent passes through the double violation region $(S_{AB}, S_{AC}) > 2$.

Chapter 4

Triple violation

Now we are going to present evidence that it is possible to reach 3 CHSH violations in the scenario in which, apart from Alice, we have three sequential observers on Bob's side. The initial state we are going to consider is again maximally entangled, specifically $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{|00\rangle+|11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$. For this mean, we are switching back to the more general formalism used in section 1.2. This way we are going to call the observers Alice, Bob⁽¹⁾, Bob⁽²⁾ and Bob⁽³⁾, their input x, y_1, y_2 and y_3 and their output a, b_1 , b_2 and b_3 , each in $\{0, 1\}$, respectively. With this formalism their observables are $A_x, B_{y_1}^{(1)}, B_{y_2}^{(2)}, B_{y_3}^{(3)}$ and the measurements operators $A_{a|x}, B_{b_1|y_1}^{(1)}, B_{b_2|y_2}^{(2)}$ and $B_{b_3|y_3}^{(3)}$. Moreover, we are going to write the CHSH parameters between Alice and Bob⁽¹⁾, Bob⁽²⁾ and Bob⁽³⁾ as $S_1^{(\lambda)}, S_2^{(\lambda)}$ and $S_3^{(\lambda)}$ respectively and for each value of λ .

We can repeat an argument similar to the one already made at the beginning of chapter 2. In this case, though, while Alice is still allowed to perform two basis projections, i.e. rank-1 measurements, and make the state separable, the second Bob is not. Indeed after the measurement, the second Bob will relay his post-measurement state to the third Bob. $Bob^{(3)}$ on the other hand will not relay his post-measurement state to anyone, thus he does not need to save any entanglement. For this reason, he can perform two basis projections too. As for $Bob^{(1)}$ and $Bob^{(2)}$, they can perform a combination of trivial measurements and basis projections generalizing what is discussed in chapter 2. Afterward, they are allowed to apply unitary operators before sending the state to the following Bob. In the following, we are not going to give a complete description of the problem. We only intend to show a simple strategy producing 3 violations. Since in this example we are going to use only three kinds of strategies, we are not going to present all the possible combinations.

In particular, we are going to consider three cases:

- $\lambda = 1$ is the analogous of the first case considered in chapter 2. In this case, all the observers perform two basis projections. We can expect a Bell violation for the first CHSH parameter S_1 , but not for the following ones.
- $\lambda = 2$ provides for the second violation, $S_2 > 2$. Indeed in this case Bob⁽¹⁾ performs a trivial and a rank-1 measurement allowing a violation for S_2 , but

not for S_1 . Afterwards, Bob⁽²⁾ and Bob⁽³⁾ performs two rank-1 measurements. Since all the state arriving to Bob⁽³⁾ is separable, S_3 can not violate the Bell inequality.

• $\lambda = 3$ allows the third violation, $S_3 > 2$. In this case both Bob⁽¹⁾ and Bob⁽²⁾ perform one trivial and one rank-1 measurement. Finally only Bob⁽³⁾ performs two basis projections, thus S_1 and S_2 show a violation, but S_3 can.

4.1 Example strategy

We are now proposing a strategy showing that it is possible to reach three sequential violations. We built this strategy using the cases just described such that each case provides for a CHSH violation, while the other two parameters only nearly fail for this purpose.

When $\lambda = 1$, Alice's observables are $A_x = \frac{\sigma_X + (-1)^x \sigma_Z}{\sqrt{2}}$ and Bob⁽¹⁾'s ones are $B_0^{(1)} = \cos \phi \sigma_X + \sin \phi \sigma_Z$, $B_1^{(1)} = \sin \phi \sigma_X + \cos \phi \sigma_Z$. Moreover he applies the unitaries $U_0^{(1)} = \mathbb{1}$ and $U_1^{(1)} = e^{i(\phi - \frac{\pi}{4})\sigma_Y}$ with $U_{b_1y_1}^{(1)} = U_{y_1}^{(1)}$. The other two Bob both measure $B_y^{(2)} = B_y^{(3)} = \cos \phi \sigma_X + \sin \phi \sigma_Z$ independently of y and do not use unitaries. The three CHSH parameters obtained are $S_1^{(1)} = 2\sqrt{2}\cos\phi$ and $S_2^{(1)} = S_3^{(1)} = \sqrt{2}(\cos\phi + \sin\phi)$.

When $\lambda = 2$ we can choose the following observables $A_x = \cos \hat{\phi} \sigma_X + (-1)^x \sin \hat{\phi} \sigma_Z$, $B_0^{(1)} = \mathbb{1}$ and $B_1^{(1)} = \sigma_Z$. Bob⁽²⁾ and Bob⁽³⁾ perform the same measurements, namely $B_0^{(2)} = B_0^{(3)} = \sigma_X$ and $B_1^{(2)} = B_1^{(3)} = \sigma_Z$. In this case, none of the observers performs any unitary $(U = \mathbb{1})$. With these choices we obtain the parameters $S_1^{(2)} = 2\sin \hat{\phi}$, $S_2^{(2)} = \cos \hat{\phi} + 2\sin \hat{\phi}$ and $S_3^{(2)} = \frac{\cos \hat{\phi}}{2} + \sin \hat{\phi}$.

Finally, if $\lambda = 3$ Alice measures $A_x = \cos \tilde{\phi} \sigma_X + (-1)^x \sin \tilde{\phi} \sigma_Z$. Bob⁽¹⁾ and Bob⁽²⁾ perform the same measurements $B_0^{(1)} = B_0^{(2)} = 1$ and $B_1^{(1)} = B_1^{(2)} = \sigma_Z$, and Bob⁽²⁾ measure $B_0^{(3)} = \sigma_X$ and $B_1^{(3)} = \sigma_Z$. As in the previous case, no unitaries are used. The CHSH parameters obtained with these measurements are $S_1^{(3)} = 2 \sin \tilde{\phi}$, $S_2^{(3)} = 2 \sin \tilde{\phi}$ and $S_3^{(3)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\cos \tilde{\phi} + 4 \sin \tilde{\phi} \right)$.

The final CHSH parameter is obtained by combining the parameters obtained for each value of λ as

$$S_i = p_1 S_i^{(1)} + p_2 S_i^{(2)} + p_3 S_i^{(3)}$$
(4.1)

where S_i with $i = \{1, 2, 3\}$ is the CHSH parameter between Alice and Bob⁽ⁱ⁾, p_1 , p_2 and p_3 are the probabilities associated with $\lambda = 1$, $\lambda = 2$ and $\lambda = 3$ respectively.

There are several choices for the angles and probabilities to reach three sequential violations.

For example, we can choose as measurement angles $(\phi, \hat{\phi}, \tilde{\phi}) = (\frac{31\pi}{132}, \frac{88\pi}{245}, \frac{16\pi}{33})$ and impose the condition $S_1 = S_2 = S_3 \equiv S$. From the condition we get the values for the probabilities $p_1 \approx 0.086$, $p_2 \approx 0.019$ and $p_3 \approx 0.895$ and for the CHSH parameter $S\approx 2.0023.$ Although this is not a large violation, it still shows that three sequential violations are possible.

Chapter 5

Conclusions

We have proven the incorrectness of the common knowledge that sees weak measurements as necessary to produce multiple sequential violations of the CHSH inequality. Indeed we have shown that by allowing the observers to use some shared classical randomness it is possible to use projective measurements to obtain at least three sequential violations. Notice that the shared randomness does not modify the fundamental structure of CHSH, indeed this only affects the strategy type the observers are going to use. Once decided the type, for each strategy the observers can choose independently which measurements to perform. We have also studied in detail the optimal trade-off obtainable between the CHSH parameters in the case that there are only two sequential observers. Lastly, we have considered what happens if the party shares a generic two-qubit pure entangled state, instead of a maximally entangled one. In this case, we have shown that not only it is always possible to reach a double CHSH violation, but a non-maximally entangled state can outperform maximally entangled ones. These results are relevant not only from a conceptual point of view but can also be applied in the self-testing scenario. Indeed, it is possible to certify whether measurement devices implement weak measurements by comparing the CHSH parameters with the results of this thesis [31].

Bibliography

- [1] Anna Steffinlongo and Armin Tavakoli. Projective measurements are sufficient for recycling nonlocality. 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2202.05007. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2202.05007.
- C. E. Shannon. "A mathematical theory of communication". In: *The Bell System Technical Journal* 27.4 (1948), pp. 623–656. DOI: 10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948.tb00917.x.
- [3] Dominic Mayers and Andrew Yao. Quantum Cryptography with Imperfect Apparatus. 1998. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.QUANT-PH/9809039. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/quant-ph/9809039.
- [4] A. Einstein, B. Podolsky, and N. Rosen. "Can Quantum-Mechanical Description of Physical Reality Be Considered Complete?" In: *Phys. Rev.* 47 (10 May 1935), pp. 777–780. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.47.777. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.47.777.
- [5] J. S. Bell. "On the Einstein Podolsky Rosen paradox". In: *Physics Physique Fizika* 1 (3 Nov. 1964), pp. 195-200. DOI: 10.1103/PhysicsPhysiqueFizika.
 1.195. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysicsPhysiqueFizika.
 1.195.
- [6] J. S. Bell and Alain Aspect. Speakable and Unspeakable in Quantum Mechanics: Collected Papers on Quantum Philosophy. 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, 2004. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511815676.
- Stuart J. Freedman and John F. Clauser. "Experimental Test of Local Hidden-Variable Theories". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 28 (14 Apr. 1972), pp. 938-941. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.28.938. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.28.938.
- [8] Alain Aspect, Jean Dalibard, and Gérard Roger. "Experimental Test of Bell's Inequalities Using Time-Varying Analyzers". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 49 (25 Dec. 1982), pp. 1804–1807. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.49.1804. URL: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.49.1804.

- John F. Clauser et al. "Proposed Experiment to Test Local Hidden-Variable Theories". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 23 (15 Oct. 1969), pp. 880-884. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevLett.23.880. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.23.880.
- [10] Howard M. Wiseman and Gerard J. Milburn. Quantum Measurement and Control. Cambridge University Press, 2009. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511813948.
- [11] Juha-Pekka Pellonpää. "Quantum instruments: I. Extreme instruments". In: Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 46.2 (Dec. 2012), p. 025302.
 DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/46/2/025302. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1751-8113/46/2/025302.
- [12] Ralph Silva et al. "Multiple Observers Can Share the Nonlocality of Half of an Entangled Pair by Using Optimal Weak Measurements". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 114 (25 June 2015), p. 250401. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.114.250401. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.114.250401.
- Shiladitya Mal, Archan S. Majumdar, and Dipankar Home. "Sharing of Nonlocality of a Single Member of an Entangled Pair of Qubits Is Not Possible by More than Two Unbiased Observers on the Other Wing". In: *Mathematics* 4.3 (2016). ISSN: 2227-7390. DOI: 10.3390/math4030048. URL: https: //www.mdpi.com/2227-7390/4/3/48.
- [14] Armin Tavakoli and Adán Cabello. "Quantum predictions for an unmeasured system cannot be simulated with a finite-memory classical system". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 97 (3 Mar. 2018), p. 032131. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.97.032131. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.97.032131.
- [15] Asmita Kumari and A. K. Pan. "Sharing nonlocality and nontrivial preparation contextuality using the same family of Bell expressions". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 100 (6 Dec. 2019), p. 062130. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.100.062130. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.100.062130.
- Sutapa Saha et al. "Sharing of tripartite nonlocality by multiple observers measuring sequentially at one side". In: *Quantum Inf. Process.* 18.2 (2019), p. 42. DOI: 10.1007/s11128-018-2161-x. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11128-018-2161-x.
- [17] Debarshi Das et al. "Facets of bipartite nonlocality sharing by multiple observers via sequential measurements". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 99 (2 Feb. 2019), p. 022305. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.99.022305. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.99.022305.
- [18] Joseph Bowles, Flavio Baccari, and Alexia Salavrakos. "Bounding sets of sequential quantum correlations and device-independent randomness certifica-

tion". In: *Quantum* 4 (Oct. 2020), p. 344. ISSN: 2521-327X. DOI: 10.22331/q-2020-10-19-344. URL: https://doi.org/10.22331/q-2020-10-19-344.

- F. J. Curchod et al. "Unbounded randomness certification using sequences of measurements". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 95 (2 Feb. 2017), p. 020102. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevA.95.020102. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.95.020102.
- [20] Adán Cabello. Bell nonlocality between sequential pairs of observers. arXiv: 2103.11844v1. 2021.
- Shuming Cheng et al. "Limitations on sharing Bell nonlocality between sequential pairs of observers". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 104 (6 Dec. 2021), p. L060201.
 DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.104.L060201. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.104.L060201.
- [22] Shuming Cheng et al. "Recycling qubits for the generation of Bell nonlocality between independent sequential observers". In: *Physical Review A* 105.2 (Feb. 2022). DOI: 10.1103/physreva.105.022411. URL: https://doi.org/10.1103%2Fphysreva.105.022411.
- [23] Tinggui Zhang and Shao-Ming Fei. "Sharing quantum nonlocality and genuine nonlocality with independent observables". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 103 (3 Mar. 2021), p. 032216. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.103.032216. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.103.032216.
- [24] Matteo Schiavon et al. "Three-observer Bell inequality violation on a twoqubit entangled state". In: 2.1 (Mar. 2017), p. 015010. DOI: 10.1088/2058-9565/aa62be. URL: https://doi.org/10.1088/2058-9565/aa62be.
- [25] Meng-Jun Hu et al. "Observation of non-locality sharing among three observers with one entangled pair via optimal weak measurement". In: npj Quantum Information 4.1 (Dec. 2018), p. 63. ISSN: 2056-6387. DOI: 10.1038/s41534-018-0115-x. URL: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41534-018-0115-x.
- [26] Giulio Foletto et al. "Experimental Certification of Sustained Entanglement and Nonlocality after Sequential Measurements". In: *Phys. Rev. Applied* 13 (4 Apr. 2020), p. 044008. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevApplied.13.044008. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevApplied.13.044008.
- [27] Tianfeng Feng et al. "Observation of nonlocality sharing via not-so-weak measurements". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 102 (3 Sept. 2020), p. 032220. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevA.102.032220. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevA.102.032220.
- [28] Giulio Foletto et al. "Experimental test of sequential weak measurements for certified quantum randomness extraction". In: *Phys. Rev. A* 103 (6 June 2021),

p. 062206. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.103.062206. URL: https://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.103.062206.

- [29] Peter J. Brown and Roger Colbeck. "Arbitrarily Many Independent Observers Can Share the Nonlocality of a Single Maximally Entangled Qubit Pair". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 125 (9 Aug. 2020), p. 090401. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 125.090401. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.125. 090401.
- [30] R. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and M. Horodecki. "Violating Bell inequality by mixed spin-12 states: necessary and sufficient condition". In: *Physics Letters A* 200.5 (1995), pp. 340-344. ISSN: 0375-9601. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0375-9601(95)00214-N. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/037596019500214N.
- [31] Ya-Li Mao et al. *Recycling nonlocality in a quantum network*. 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2202.04840. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2202.04840.